
May 2014

Client: National Trust

Issue No: 1

OA Job No: 5497

NGR: SU 82922 94649

No 32-33 Crown Court
West Wycombe Village

Historic Building Investigation 
and Recording

B
u

ild
in

g
 In

v
e

stig
a

tio
n

 a
n

d
 R

e
c

o
rd

in
g





Client Name: National Trust

Document Title: 32-33 Crown Court, West Wycombe Village

Document Type: Building Investigation and Recording

Issue Number: 2

Grid Reference: SU83115 94646

NT HBSMR event No: ENA7221

OA Job Number: 5497

Site code: WWBS12

Invoice code: WWBSBS

Prepared by: Jonathan Gill

Position: Supervisor (Buildings Archaeology Department)

Checked by: Julian Munby

Position: Senior Project Manager (Buildings Archaeology)

Approved by: Julian Munby

Position: Head of Buildings Archaeology Department

Date: May 2014

Document File Location: \\Server21-db\buildings\Projects Ongoing\West Wycombe\Interim
reports\32-33\WWBS_32-33 text_v2.odt

Illustrated by:
Disclaimer:

This document has been prepared for the titled project or named part thereof and should not be relied upon or used for any other
project without an independent check being carried out as to its suitability and prior written authority of Oxford Archaeology being
obtained. Oxford Archaeology accepts no responsibility or liability for the consequences of this document being used for a purpose
other than the purposes for which it was commissioned. Any person/party using or relying on the document for such other purposes
agrees, and will by such use or reliance be taken to confirm their agreement to indemnify Oxford Archaeology for all loss or damage
resulting  therefrom.  Oxford  Archaeology  accepts  no  responsibility  or  liability  for  this  document  to  any  party  other  than  the
person/party by whom it was commissioned.

© Oxford Archaeology Ltd 2014

Oxford Archaeology

Janus House

Osney Mead

Oxford OX2 0ES

t: (0044) 01865 263800 e: oasouth@oxfordarch.co.uk

f: (0044) 01865 793496 w: www.thehumanjourney.net

Oxford Archaeology Limited is a Registered Charity No: 285627

© Oxford Archaeology (i) May 2014



© Oxford Archaeology (ii) May 2014



32-33 Crown Court, West Wycombe Village, Buckinghamshire

Report on Historic Building Investigation

Table of Contents

1  Introduction.....................................................................................................................................5

1.1   Background.....................................................................................................................5

1.2   Wider background to the West Wycombe project..........................................................5

1.3   Methodology...................................................................................................................6

1.4   Historical Background to West Wycombe Village.........................................................6

2  Description ......................................................................................................................................8

2.1   Summary of phasing of building from VBS and listing................................................8

2.2   Summary description of overall building.......................................................................8

2.3   Roof investigations.........................................................................................................9

2.4   Internal investigations ..................................................................................................12

3  Conclusion And Summary of Phasing.......................................................................................13

Appendix A.  Listed Building Description.....................................................................................15

Appendix B.  Vernacular Building Survey for Nos 32-33 Crown Court....................................16

Figures 

Figure 1: Location plan

Figure 2: Extract from A Plan of West Wycombe Town (1767) 

Figure 3: 1876 1st edition OS map

Figure 4: 1898 edition OS map

Figure 5: Ground floor plan (from VBS)

Figure 6: Plan of roof showing phasing and key features 

Plates

Plate 1: General view of west elevation

Plate 2: Gable of north elevation above 20th-century lean-to

Plate 3: Outbuilding in garden

Plate 4: East elevation beneath scaffolding

Plate 5: West slope of southern bay (No.32)

© Oxford Archaeology (iii) May 2014



Plate 6: Rafter feet in west slope of southern bay

Plate 7: West slope of southern bay

Plate 8: West slope of central bay

Plate 9: West slope of central bay

Plate 10: Tie beam and rafter feet in west slope

Plate 11: Truss 2 detail, west slope

Plate 12: West slope of northern bay and north gable

Plate 13: North end of west slope

Plate 14: West slope of north bay

Plate 15: West slope of north bay

Plate 16: North end of west slope

Plate 17: Wind brace in north bay, west slope

Plate 18: West slope

Plate 19: Rafter feet in west slope

Plate 20: Northern bay roof space looking south-west

Plate 21: Ceiling joists in northern bay

Plate 22: Northern bay roof space looking south-east

Plate 23: Northern bay roof space looking south

Plate 24: Northern bay of roof space looking north through hatch

Plate 25: Curved inner principals (or crucks) in northern gable

Plate 26: Central bay of roof space, east slope

Plate 27: Southern bay roof space looking south

Plate 28: Southern bay roof space, west slope

Plate 29: East slope of roof looking north

Plate 30: East slope southern bay

Plate 31: East slope wind brace in northern bay

Plate 32: East slope northern bay

Plate 33: East slope southern end of roof

Plate 34: East slope northern end of roof

Plate 35: Detail of collar, clasped purlin and curved inner principal

Plate 36: Rafter feet detail

Plate 37: Fireplace in ground floor front room (No.33A)

Plate 38: North face of wall dividing No 32 from No 33 (Room 33A)

Plate 39: East wall in Room 33A

Plate 40: Rear room in No.33 (Room 33B)

 

© Oxford Archaeology (iv) May 2014



32-33 Crown Court, West Wycombe Village

Historic Building Investigation and Recording

1  INTRODUCTION

1.1   Background
1.1.1 Oxford Archaeology (OA) have been commissioned by The National Trust to carry out

historic buildings recording and archaeological investigation during conservation works
to a number of properties within the village of West Wycombe, Buckinghamshire.  The
work relates to a programme of on-going refurbishment works (detailed further below)
and the current report covers the recording of Numbers 32 and 33 Crown Court at the
eastern  end  of  the  village.  The  National  Trust  HBSMR  event  No  for  this  work  is
ENA7221.

1.2   Wider background to the West Wycombe project
1.2.1 The current work forms part of a wider project to refurbish the tenanted National Trust

buildings within West Wycombe village and it is being carried out in a number of stages
between 2012-2015. 

1.2.2 The main works in the current programme include:
• Re-roofing and insertion of insulation
• Upgrades of services
• Upgrades of bathrooms and kitchen facilities
• Repairs to gutters 

1.2.1 The National  Trust  owns c.50 tenanted buildings in the village and c.23 of  these are
listed. There is one Grade II* building (Steps House) while the others are listed at Grade
II. No.s 32-33 Crown Court form a single Grade II listing dating to 1954 (see Appendix
A).

1.2.2 The village forms a collection of vernacular buildings from a range of dates and with
various  historical  functions  and  the  current  project  provides  a  rare  opportunity  to
undertake a single overarching study of a settlement such as this.  The investigation of
this  group  will  particularly  allow  the  easy  comparison  of  constructional  techniques
between buildings to identify similarities between structures of different ages as well as
highlighting evidence to show how constructional techniques or structural design in this
area has evolved over time. 

1.2.3 In September 2012 Gary Marshall (National Trust Archaeologist London and South East)
issued a brief for the recording project and in October OA responded with a Proposal for
Building Investigation and Recording. 

1.2.4 Vernacular  Building Surveys  were  undertaken on many of  the  buildings in  the early
1990s and these provide much valuable information on the history of the structures and
evolution of the village. The current recording work utilises existing plans and research
undertaken  by  the  Vernacular  Buildings  Survey  in  September  1993.   For  ease  of
comparison internal spaces and rooms use the same numbering system as used in the
Vernacular Buildings Survey report.  The VBS report should also be read in conjunction
with the current report which is included here as Appendix B.
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1.2.5 This document forms a stand-alone report on the investigation of No. 32-33 Crown Court
and ultimately similar reports will be issued on the other buildings investigated at West
Wycombe. The information contained in all  these reports will  then be distilled into a
wider  context  study  which  will  discuss  the  overall  development  of  the  village  and
highlight common themes or features between buildings.

1.2.6 The  recording  at  No.32  and  33  focused  principally  on  the  roof  structure  following
removal of the roof tiles and prior to the insertion of insulation. However it also included
some recording at ground floor level and some observations were made on the exterior of
the  building.  This  report  is  intended  to  complement the  Vernacular  Building  Survey
rather than to replace it  and it  focuses particularly on the areas exposed. The VBS is
reproduced here as an appendix while the main body of the current report discusses the
areas recently exposed and assesses how this affects the previous understanding of the
building.     

1.3   Methodology
1.3.1 The work comprised three principal elements: a photographic, a drawn and a  written

survey. The  photographic survey  consisted of general photographs and  specific details
and was undertaken using 35mm black and white print film and digital photographs were
taken using a Caplio 8 megapixel camera.

1.3.2 The drawn survey consisted of annotation of the first floor plan to indicate the exposed
roof structure with other details measured in.

1.3.3 The  written  survey consisted  of  notes  and  annotation  that  complemented  the
photographic and drawn surveys and added further analytical and descriptive detail. 

1.3.4 The main site work for the recording of No 32 - 33 Crown Court was undertaken on 3rd

and 8th October  2013 although due  to  the  fact  that  the  roof  works  were  undertaken
without a full scaffold covering the on-site recording was by necessity particularly rapid.
The roof was briefly uncovered in sections to allow repairs before being re-covered in
case it started raining. This only allowed relatively short windows when the sections of
roof could be recorded and it also meant that the whole roof was not uncovered in a
single phase.  The west slope of the southern bay (No.32) was uncovered without OA
being on site but Gary Marshall did visit at this point and he provided digital photographs
of this area to OA.

1.3.5 Dan Miles from the Oxford Dendrochronology Laboratory assessed the timbers on 2nd

October 2013 for their suitability for dendrochronology but they were considered to be
too fast growing and therefore not suitable. 

1.4   Historical Background to West Wycombe Village
1.4.1 West  Wycombe  is  a  small  historic  village  which is  just  detached  from the  modern

western  boundary  of  the  much  larger  town  of  High  Wycombe.  Archaeological
investigations have provided evidence of continuous occupation in the general vicinity
since  the  Bronze  Age,  particularly  on  West  Wycombe  Hill  and  the  area  where  St
Lawrence’s Church now stands.  

1.4.2 In the first half of the 18th century West Wycombe Park and country house was laid out
by Sir Francis Dashwood to the south of the village.
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1.4.3 The current  buildings in the village are believed to largely  date from the early  16th
century to the later 19th and they formed part of the Dashwood’s estate. The village was
located on the main road between London and Oxford and records show there were a
large number of inns which prospered on the coaching trade. 

1.4.4 By the early decades of the 20th century the buildings of the village had fallen into a
state of  considerable disrepair  and in 1929 the village estate was purchased from the
Dashwood Family by the Royal Society of Arts (RSA). The RSA undertook a programme
of  refurbishment  under  their  Campaign  for  the  Preservation  of  Ancient  Cottages,  a
remarkable but little known campaign established in 1926 to protect cottage architecture
by establishing a fund which purchased or  restored cottages.  (RSA ref:  PR.EN/100).
Documents relating to this purchase and refurbishment are held at the RSA Archives in
London and this may be an avenue of valuable research in the current project.

1.4.5 In 1934, following the RSA refurbishment, the buildings were donated to the National
Trust and they remain as a tenanted estate today.  

1.4.6 Numbers 32-33
1.4.7 Detailed historical research into No.32 and 33, as well as the village generally will be

undertaken  in  due  course  as  part  of  the  current  project  and  the  findings  will  be
incorporated into the final synthesised report on all the buildings of the village. The only
sources so far consulted are historic maps and particularly those from 1698, 1767, the
Tithe Map from 1849 and 25 inch Ordnance Survey maps (1876, 1898, 1921). 

1.4.8 The earliest  map to  show the  village  is  the  1698 estate map and although it  is  not
reproduced here a copy of the map has been seen in the preparation of the current report.
The map is schematic in nature, showing principal buildings in elevation, and its detail
cannot be relied upon but it is interesting to note that it does not appear to show the
buildings of  Crown Court  including No.  32-33.  The buildings on the street  front  are
shown, possibly stretching as far as the current location of Crown Court, but no ranges to
the rear are indicated.  

1.4.9 The 1767 estate map is more detailed and this map does clearly show Crown Court at the
eastern end of the village with four ranges around a square yard and the east range (the
current  No.  32-33)  divided  into  three  properties  (see  Fig  2).   The  buildings  are
schematically represented in elevation and each range is shown as being two storied. The
schematic nature of the map means that it would be unsafe to rely too heavily on the
elevation for determining the historic form of the building but it is likely that the division
into three properties does reflect the arrangement at this time.  Crown Court is labelled
'Mr Dorrels. Eleven Cottages with Gardens, Yard'.  

1.4.10 The tithe map of 1849 again shows the building with a simple rectangular plan and the
apportionment appears to just show John West (No.724) as the occupier of the cottage
and garden and Sir George Henry Dashwood MP as the owner.  This  is reproduced in the
Vernacular Building Survey (Appendix B).

1.4.11 The first edition OS map of 1876 shows the main rectangular plan building divided into
four components (four properties?) and an extension to the rear of the block to north of
centre. There is at least one outbuilding shown to the rear of the property, against the
boundary wall to the east of the plot (Fig 3). 

1.4.12 A broadly similar arrangement is shown on the 1898 map (Fig 4) except that the building
is now shown divided into five blocks (presumably five properties).  The property to the
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south  of  the  centre  which  was  larger  than  the  others  on  the  1876   map  had  been
subdivided by 1898.  Each of these properties would have been very small and smaller
than most of the others in Crown Court. 

1.4.13 The 1921 OS map again shows the building divided into five properties. It is interesting
to note that the distinct skewed angle which forms the south end of the building is not
apparent on any of the historic maps and therefore possibly relates to a reconstruction of
this area, probably in the RSA works of c.1930. 

2  DESCRIPTION 

2.1   Summary of phasing of building from VBS and listing
2.1.1 The listing suggests that  the building is a 17th-century range of  cottages with No.32

including  the  former  No.31  Crown  Court  (see  Appendix  A).  This  assessment  was
probably  just  based on  an external  examination  and the Vernacular  Building Survey,
which would have been a more detailed investigation, considers that the building has
significantly older origins. The VBS considers that 32-33 is a large late medieval hall
house which is one of the oldest buildings in West Wycombe village having originally
been probably constructed in the early to mid 15th century. The VBS states that it was
originally of cruck construction with the open hall in the southern two bays and a two
storied northern bay with chamber above service room below. The current investigation
believes that this interpretation of the structure being a cruck-framed medieval hall house
is improbable, though not impossible, and that the list description is more likely to be an
accurate reflection of the building's origins (discussed further below). 

2.1.2 As mentioned above the building's timbers were assessed by Dan Miles from the Oxford
Dendrochronology  Laboratory  for  their  suitability  for  dendrochronology  but
unfortunately they were considered to be too fast growing for the tree rings to be able to
provide a felling date. 

2.1.3 The VBS report believes that in the early 18th century the upper floor was added to the
previously open hall in the southern two bays, the chimney stack was added and the roof
altered  to  its  current  form.  The  VBS  report  suggests  that  the  building  would  have
comprised two cottages at this time: a large one in the two southern bays and a smaller
one  in  the  northern  bay.  In  the  early  19th the  larger  cottage  was  divided  into  two
dwellings. The VBS also considers that the rear lean-to's were probably added in the late
19th or  early 20th century to provide fuel and wash houses and that the two southern
cottages were reunited in the mid 20th century  
 

2.2   Summary description of overall building
2.2.1 Introduction: 
2.2.2 As outlined elsewhere the current project is not intended to be a full descriptive record of

this  building.  It  has  focussed  on  areas  previously  obscured  and  it  is  intended  to
supplement rather than replicate the VBS. However a brief outline description would be
of use, particularly in relation to features noted in the current project. 
 

2.2.3 No.32-33 Crown Court  is  a  two storey building with  gabled,  tile-covered roof.  It  is
timber framed with flint rubble and red brick nogging (Plate 1).  There are single storey,
weatherboarded lean-to extensions at the northern and southern ends which were almost
certainly constructed in the c.1930 refurbishment.  These partly obscure the north and
south elevations behind although the gables of each are visible.  The gable of the north
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elevation has  a  pair  of  heavily  weathered,  curved  timbers  visible  that  it  has  been
speculated could be surviving cruck blades (discussed further below – see Plates 2, 25).
These  timbers are jointed to a collar although this is hidden beneath a protective board
probably added in the c.1930 works. The brickwork within this gable is different below
and above the collar but both sections appear to be of probable 20th-century date. The
gable of the south elevation is formed from probably 20th-century brickwork.

2.2.4 The west elevation faces into the court and is an intriguing constructional patchwork that
provides much evidence of alteration since its original construction (Plate 1). The main
construction  is  a  timber  box-frame  from which  most  of  the  framing survives  in  the
central  and  southern  bays  with  brick  nogging  infill from  various  phases  and  some
sections of  the framing replaced or  altered.   However,  the northern bay of  the west
elevation (ie No.33) is constructed from flint with brick dressings and without any visible
timber framing. The footprint of the building is believed to be primary and therefore
rather than this flint bay being a secondary addition it is likely that it was also originally
timber framed but  this  has been replaced by the flint.  There are two distinct  phases
however to this flint and brick section of wall  in the west elevation because although
most of the bricks are a dark red colour and relatively thin those in the upper part of the
northern third of this bay are an orangey red colour and slightly larger. There is a clear
straight  joint  between  the  two  types  of  brick  approximately  1.4  m  south  from  the
northern end of this wall, and it is likely that in this northern area the original timber
framing remained in-situ after the rest of this bay was rebuilt in flint (late 18th/early 19th

century?), but then this section was also rebuilt in brick/flint, probably in the late 19th

century. It is interesting to note that most of the brickwork at the northern corner of this
wall is the same dark red as further to the south and it is only the uppermost c.13 courses
that are formed from the later orangey red brickwork.     

2.2.5 The junction between the central and northern bays of the building, where the surviving
timber frame abuts the flint rebuild, is of interest because the timber framing has started
leaning to the east and this contrasts with the adjacent brick/flint wall which has been
rebuilt  vertically.  The two doorways to  the separate properties are either  side of  this
junction, immediately adjacent to each other. 

2.2.6 The  east  elevation (rear) of the building was also timber framed but it has now been
much altered and the wall  of No.32 appears to have been virtually entirely rebuilt  in
brick and flint.  Some of the historic framing does survive in the northern bay, (ie the
wall  of No.33) including two full  height posts at the south-east corner of No 33 (the
junction with No.32). There is also a mid rail which acts as a lintel over the window
although this is covered by a modern protective board.  Beneath this lintel the brickwork
has all been rebuilt (probably 1930s) but the brick nogging above is older and looks very
similar  to brickwork exposed inside in the chimney stack (probably 18th or early 19th

century date). The lower part of the corner post has been removed beneath the mid rail in
probably early 19th century brickwork (bricks c.6.5 cm tall) 

2.2.7 It is worth noting that there is a well-built brick outbuilding at the end of the garden of
No.33 (Plate 3) and a small weatherboarded outbuilding in the garden of No.32. These
have not been investigated in the current project but they are a feature of houses in West
Wycombe village. 

2.3   Roof investigations
2.3.1 The key investigation in the current project focused on the roof which was uncovered to

allow  insulation  to  be  inserted  and  minor  repairs  to  be  undertaken.  Recording  was
undertaken from scaffolding while the roof was uncovered but this was only of a rapid
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photographic and descriptive nature because the scaffolding was open to the elements
rather than incorporating a covering over the top. This meant that due to the potential
threat from rain the roof structure was left uncovered for as short a period as possible and
there was only a brief window when recording was possible.  

2.3.2 The main roof is three bays long and divided by four trusses which have been numbered
here 1-4 from the south end.  The structure appears to divide into two main phases: the
historic roof which survives largely intact (albeit with a severe sag) and the extensive
works undertaken as part of the 1930s refurbishment which comprised adding new rafters
on top of the old ones to counter the sag. 

2.3.3 Three of the four trusses (No's 2-4) are of the same type with substantial tie beam (c.22
cm2), collar (c.16 cm tall by c.12 cm), principal rafters (c.13 cm2) and a further pair of
members which are beneath the principal rafters and which are tenoned to the underside
of the collars. These members sandwich the lower of two tiers of purlins (18 x 12 cm)
between themselves  and the principal  rafters  and  they are  a particularly  interesting
feature of the roof. The NT Vernacular Building Survey report interpreted these curved
members  as  pairs  of  cruck blades  and  almost  the  only  surviving  elements  of  a  late
medieval hall house on this site but in the current report it is thought that they are more
likely to be curved inner principals and forming part of the 17th or 18th-century building.

2.3.4 Curved inner principals are a characteristic feature of a particular roof form found widely
in this general area (South Oxfordshire, Buckinghamshire, Berkshire) with a particular
concentration in the Wycombe district. Studies of this roof type suggest that the earliest
examples are from the mid 17th century but they are most commonly found in the mid to
late 18th and they can be found in 19th century buildings (Clark, 2004).   The curved inner
principals in this building vary in size but they are c.24 cm tall x 11 cm wide.  

2.3.5 It  is possible that these curved members are partially surviving crucks from a greatly
altered former hall but there should be some evidence to suggest that the cruck blades
formerly continued down towards the ground prior to the secondary insertion of the tie-
beams. Unfortunately the junction between the curved inner principals and tie-beams in
each truss are obscured by slightly raised ceiling and insulation so it was not possible to
closely examine this area. 

2.3.6 The upper purlins are clasped between principal rafter and the collar. The purlins appear
to  be  scarfed  immediately  to  the  north  of  each  truss  with  two  pegs  adjacent  to  the
principal rafter/curved inner principal. 

2.3.7 It is interesting to note that some of the purlins are formed from whole tree trunks rather
than halved or quartered and this characteristic has been seen in other buildings at West
Wycombe (40-41 and No.52). This use of probably cheaper pieces of wood from smaller
trees (albeit whole trunks) is suggestive of a later date of construction (possibly more
likely  to  be 18th century than 17th century)  and it  may also be something of  a  local
characteristic. 

2.3.8 Truss 1 at the south end of the building is different to the others and this may reflect the
map evidence that suggests this end of the building was formerly squared rather than
being skewed as it is now.  This truss comprises a tie beam, two collars which each clasp
a purlin  and no  curved inner  principals  (Plate  27). The upper  collar  is  a  secondary
replacement (1930s?) with  'bird's mouth'  notched ends and it  is  inserted between the
principal  rafters.  The  lower  collar  in  Truss  1  is  primary  and  it  has  been  protected
externally by the addition of a series of tiles.  Two stud posts survive beneath this collar
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from what would have been a closed frame while immediately to the south of this the
gable is formed by rebuilt  brickwork probably from the 1930s works.  In the eastern
principal rafter a peg remains in-situ in the mortice from a former purlin below the level
of the current upper purlin

2.3.9 The ceiling in the southern bay (Bay 1) is largely obscured by modern insulation but the
ceiling appears to be modern and there are fragments of newspaper apparently from 1965
within this.  The purlins in Bay 1 are held apart by a spreader beam with 'birds mouth'
notched ends (Plate 28).  

2.3.10 Truss 2 between the southern and central bays is sandwiched between two separate brick
chimney stacks which  the  VBS believes were added in the early  18th and  early 19th

centuries (Pl.11, 18, 35). The addition of the later stack (the northern of the two) reflects
the subdivision  of  the  building into  three  small  cottages.  In  the central  bay there  is
similar modern insulation to that in the southern bay (Pl. 26). 

2.3.11 Truss 3 between the central and northern bays is closed with eight rough studs to the
north side (Pl. 23).  Some laths survive fixed to the studs but only in a very fragmentary
form with no plaster and no evidence of former plaster. It may be that the studs and laths
were  inserted  to  form  a  very  crude  division  between properties  although  it  wasn't
plastered because this does not appear to have ever been a habitable loft space. It may be
that the unplastered laths held a rough straw to act as an insulation. Immediately to the
south of it a modern (later 20th-century) stud partition has been constructed, presumably
to replace the previous lath partition.   

2.3.12 Truss 4 at the gabled northern end of the building is again of the main basic type with
curved inner principals but it has brick nogging that is probably from the 1930s works
(Pl. 24). This brick nogging is not bonded to the adjacent chimney stack which probably
dates from the 18th century.  An interesting feature of the northernmost truss is the fact
that there are empty mortices in the sides of both the principal rafters from where a wind
brace could have gone but there are no corresponding mortices in the purlins so it is
unlikely that there were wind braces at this end of the building. It is more likely that the
empty  mortices  show  that  the  principal  rafters  have been  reused  from  elsewhere,
presumably as a pair (Pl. 13 & 16). 

2.3.13 In the northernmost bay there are straight  windbraces to each slope beneath the upper
purlin and immediately to the north of Truss 3 (ie the other end of the bay to empty
mortices referred to above – Pl. 14, 15, 20). There are also similar straight wind braces to
each slope at the southern end of the building (Pl. 5) but there doesn't appear to be any
evidence of further windbraces in the other bays and this occasional use of windbraces
rather than uniformly along the building is a feature that has been previously noted in
other buildings at West Wycombe.   

2.3.14 The common rafters are laid flat and although there are various sizes they are generally
c.10 cm wide x 5 cm tall. The primary rafters are waney, with some retaining bark, and
they all appear to be pegged to the purlins although in most cases this is obscured by the
secondary nailed softwood packing rafters on the top.  There is no ridge piece and the
rafters are tenoned at the apex.  Again the nature of the apex tenons are largely obscured
by the secondary rafters over the primary but it appears that the principal rafters have
bridle tenons while the common rafters are half lapped at the apex. 

2.3.15 There are nine pairs of  old common rafters in each of  the three bays but  secondary
purlins have been added onto the backs of these rafters (almost certainly in the c.1930
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RSA works) and contemporary rafters then nailed on top of these. The new rafters are
directly above the historic ones and in several areas long additional wedges have been
inserted between the two phases of rafters. In almost all cases the upper rafters comprise
two pieces of timber with their ends adjoining.  The c.1930 works would have reprofiled
the severely sagging roof.  

2.3.16 The wall plate is 13 cm tall and at least 15 cm deep.  The wall plate appears relatively
consistent  along both  sides  of  the  roof  without  clear  empty  mortices  for  old  rafters
(although much is hidden). The rafters are notched over the wall plate. There are two
matching scarfs in the wall plate, each one c.50 cm to the north of the two trusses (Pl. 10,
36).  Peg holes are visible in both wall plates that relate to the existing and former posts
in  the wall  beneath.  There are many peg holes  in  the face of  the eastern wall  plate
confirming that there was framing to the east wall and some of the pegs remain in-situ. 

2.3.17 As referred to above it is assumed that the west elevation in the northernmost bay was
timber framed and therefore there would have been three  posts jointed to the wall plate,
c.1.05 m apart.  The northern peg hole is clearly visible in the face of the wall plate, very
close to the straight joint between the two phases of brick dressing, but the other two are
not clearly visible. They may be obscured by mortar infill etc. 

2.3.18 When the recording of the roof was undertaken much of the upper face of the first floor
ceiling was obscured by modern insulation but it was exposed in the northern bay. The
structure of  the ceiling here was suggestive of a 19th or possibly even an earlier 20th

century date and it was crudely constructed with two overlapping principal joists (east to
west) and softwood common joists nailed to these (Pl. 20-21).  The common joists are
vertically set and incorporate clearly reused members. 

2.4   Internal investigations 
2.4.1 Various refurbishment works were undertaken within the northern bay of the building

(No.33)  which  exposed  previously  obscured  fabric  or structure  and  recording  was
undertaken in  these  areas.  The main recording was undertaken at  ground floor  level
where plaster was removed from patches on several walls including a horizontal strip on
the front (west) wall in Room 33A. This was immediately to the north of the window, at
sill level (above mid-height matchboarding) and it revealed brickwork similar to that on
the external face of the same wall. It also confirmed that the full height straight joint in
this area continues through the wall.  As outlined above it  appears that  the originally
timber framed west wall was rebuilt in brick in several phases so that the section to the
south of this straight joint was replaced by brick at a slightly earlier date than the section
to the north of the joint, extending up to the corner. 

2.4.2 Also in Room 33A a large section of the lime plaster from the south wall was removed at
the  foot  of  the  stairs,  above  the  mid-height  match-board  panelling  (Pl.  38).  This
confirmed that the south wall is a pegged timber stud partition with single-skin, brick
nogging and the nature of the wall is suggestive of an 18th or possibly early 19th-century
date.  The bricks are c.6 cm tall by 22 cm long.  A similar section of plaster was removed
from the east wall of this room, dividing it from the rear scullery and this confirmed that
this wall was also single skin brick with a simple timber lacing pieces (Pl. 39). This wall
is very crudely constructed so that although mortar has been used in the horizontal joints
to bond the bricks mortar has not been applied to the vertical sides of the bricks to bond.
The nature of the construction and brickwork of this easterly wall is slightly different to
that in the southern wall although a similar lime mortar has been used in each.     
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2.4.3 The first floor structure which forms the ceiling in Room 33A consists of a north-to-
south chamfered principal joist that rests on a 7 cm tall plate in the partially exposed
brick nogging wall, and east-to-west common joists tenoned into the principal. The north
end of what appears to be the principal joist which extends south through No.32 is also
visible in this wall, adjacent to the joist in No.33.  This floor would be consistent with a
date of late 17th or early 18th century. 

2.4.4 In the north wall of this room there is a large chimney breast which had a simple 1930s
tiled fireplace (presumably inserted in the RSA refurbishment) but this has been removed
in the current works and the structure behind partly exposed (Pl. 37). There appears to
have been a large original opening, c.1.6 m wide, which was infilled with 20th-century
brickwork (possibly two phases) and the tiled 1930s fireplace.  At the western side of the
original 1.6 m wide opening there is a straight joint between the old brickwork, of which
very little is exposed, and the 20th-century brickwork and at the eastern end there is an
opening which has revealed a smokey blackened jamb to the old brick.   

2.4.5 There is a small kitchen or scullery to the rear (Room 33B) and the same common joists
continue through this area from the front room although here they not painted (Pl. 40).
They rest on a plate in the internal wall to the east and the joists are laid relatively flat
(c.10 cm x 7 cm). The ceiling of the northern part of this room is modern and clearly
much more recent than the other areas exposed at ground floor level.
 

2.4.6 Also in this room part of the east wall of the large stack was exposed and the bricks here
again appeared to be of 18th or possibly early 19th century date.  The lean-to at the north
end of the building includes  a WC in the room to the east but nothing here has been
exposed in the current work. 

2.4.7 No areas  were exposed within  the  southern property  (No 32)  and no  recording  was
undertaken in this part of the building. 

3  CONCLUSION AND SUMMARY  OF PHASING

3.1.1 The  current  project  has  allowed  an  investigation  of  previously  hidden  parts  of  this
building and it has also enhanced our overall understanding of the structure. The main
work  focused  on  the  roof  and  this  appears  to  have  two  main  phases:  the  original
construction which was probably in the late 17th or early 18th century and then the repair
works undertaken by the RSA in the early 1930s. 

3.1.2 The  National  Trust's  Vernacular  Building  Survey  report  on  the  building  from 1993
interpreted  elements  of  the  roof  trusses  as  surviving  cruck  frames  and  from  this
concluded that the building was a much altered medieval cruck-framed hall house, dating
from the early to mid 15th century,  from which little original  survives other than the
crucks. However, far more of the roof has been exposed in the current project and it
seems more likely that the members previously identified as cruck blades are curved (or
cranked) inner principals, a distinctive local roof type found particularly widely in South
Oxfordshire and the Wycombe district. The roof structure strongly appears to have been
constructed  in  a  single  phase  rather  than  the  curved  members  surviving  from  a
considerably  older  hall  house.  They  appear  contemporary  with  the  tie-beams  which
would not have been found in an open hall, although a close inspection of this junction
was not possible and there was no evidence of smoke blackening to the timbers. 
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3.1.3 It  is possible that  these curved members were reused from a previous cruck building
elsewhere but in the current building they are acting as curved inner principals. Studies
of the distribution of curved inner principals suggest that the earliest examples are from
the mid 17th century and their use can still be found in buildings from the 19th century
but  they are most commonly found in buildings of mid to late 18th century date. The
nature of the flat rafters and timber framing suggests that the building is probably not
later than the mid 18th century and the most likely date of construction is therefore felt to
either be the late 17th or early 18th century.  The box timber framing and the extent to
which this framing has been replaced may suggest the earlier part of this range although
it  could be significant that no building is shown here on an estate plan of 1698. The
schematic nature of this map means that its detail and accuracy cannot be relied upon
however.

3.1.4 The 1930s refurbishment works undertaken on the roof by the RSA comprised adding
additional rafters to the backs of the original members restore the original profile of the
roof slopes.  

3.1.5 There are several common features in No 32-33 Crown Court which have been noted
elsewhere at West Wycombe including the use of windbraces in occasional bays rather
than consistently  through the  building,  extensions  added in  the  1930s  works,  timber
framing re-faced or  replaced and lengths of  timber (packing pieces) added on top of
rafters to re-profile the roof line. 
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APPENDIX A.  LISTED BUILDING  DESCRIPTION

32 AND 33, CROWN COURT, WEST WYCOMBE
(Formerly listed as Nos 31, 32 & 33) 

Grade: II 
Date first listed: 09-Jan-1954 
Date of most recent amendment: 28-Jun-1973 

No 32 includes the former No 31. C17 range of cottages on east side of Crown Court. Timber
framed with flint rubble and red brick nogging, old tiled roof. 2 storeys; 5, formerly 3, flush set
casements. Cut bracketed doorhoods, doorway on right blocked and casement substituted.

Nos 27 to 30 (consec), Nos 32 and 33 form a group.

NGR: SU8311594645
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Figure 1 : Location of No 32-33 within West Wycombe
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Crown Court

No 32-33

Figure 2 : Extract from 1767 map
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No 32-33

Figure 3: 1876 OS map (25 inch map)

\\Servergo\invoice codes r thru z\W_codes\WWBSBS\WWBSBS\WWBSBS_April2014* West Wycombe Nos 32-33*HRK*3.4.14



No 32-33

Figure 4: 1898 OS map (25 inch map)
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Figure 6: Ground floor plan of 32-33 showing areas investigated



Plate 1: General view of west elevation

Plate 2: Gable of north elevation above 20th-century lean-to
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Plate 3: Outbuilding in garden

Plate 4: East elevation beneath scaffolding
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Plate 5: West slope of southern bay (No.32)

Plate 6: Rafter feet in west slope of southern bay

\\S
er

ve
rg

o\
in

vo
ic

e 
co

de
s 

r 
th

ru
 z

\W
_c

od
es

\W
W

B
S

B
S

\W
W

B
S

B
S

\W
W

B
S

B
S

_A
pr

il2
01

4*
W

es
t W

yc
om

be
 n

os
 3

2-
33

*H
R

K
*3

.4
.1

4



Plate 7: West slope of southern bay

Plate 8: West slope of central bay
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Plate 9: West slope of central bay

Plate 10: Tie beam and rafter feet in west slope
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Plate 11: Truss 2 detail, west slope

Plate 12: West slope of northern bay and north gable
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Plate 13: North end of west slope

Plate 14: West slope of north bay
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Plate 15: West slope of north bay

Plate 16: North end of west slope
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Plate 17: Wind brace in north bay, west slope

Plate 18: West slope
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Plate 19: Rafter feet in west slope

Plate 20: Northern bay roof space looking south-west

\\S
er

ve
rg

o\
in

vo
ic

e 
co

de
s 

r 
th

ru
 z

\W
_c

od
es

\W
W

B
S

B
S

\W
W

B
S

B
S

\W
W

B
S

B
S

_A
pr

il2
01

4*
W

es
t W

yc
om

be
 n

os
 3

2-
33

*H
R

K
*3

.4
.1

4



Plate 21: Ceiling joists in northern bay

Plate 22: Northern bay roof space looking south-east
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Plate 23: Northern bay roof space looking south

Plate 24: Northern bay of roof space looking north through hatch

\\S
er

ve
rg

o\
in

vo
ic

e 
co

de
s 

r 
th

ru
 z

\W
_c

od
es

\W
W

B
S

B
S

\W
W

B
S

B
S

\W
W

B
S

B
S

_A
pr

il2
01

4*
W

es
t W

yc
om

be
 n

os
 3

2-
33

*H
R

K
*3

.4
.1

4



Plate 25: Curved inner principals (or crucks) in northern gable

Plate 26: Central bay of roof space, east slope
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Plate 27: Southern bay roof space looking south

Plate 28: Southern bay roof space, west slope
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Plate 29: East slope of roof looking north

Plate 30: East slope southern bay
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Plate 31: East slope wind brace in northern bay

Plate 32: East slope northern bay
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Plate 33: East slope southern end of roof

Plate 34: East slope northern end of roof
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Plate 35: Detail of collar, clasped purlin and curved inner principal

Plate 36: Rafter feet detail
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Plate 37: Fireplace in ground floor front room (No.33A)

Plate 38: North face of wall dividing No 32 from No 33 (Room 33A)
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Plate 39: East wall in Room 33A

Plate 40: Rear room in No.33 (Room 33B)
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No 32-33 West Wycombe Village Report on Building Investigation

APPENDIX B.  VERNACULAR BUILDING  SURVEY FOR NOS 32-33 CROWN COURT

© Oxford Archaeology Page 17 of 13 April 2014

































































Di rec to r : G i l l H e y , B A P h D F S A M I F A

Oxf o rd A rchaeo l ogy L td i s a

P r i va te L i m i ted C om pany , N o : 1618597

and a Reg i s te red Char i t y , No : 285627

OA Nor th
Mi l l 3
Moor Lane
Lancas te r LA1 1QD

t : +44 ( 0 ) 1524  541 000
f : +44 ( 0 ) 1524  848 606
e : oanor th@ox fo rda rchaeo lo g y .co m
w:h t tp : / /ox fo rda rchaeo logy .co m

Head Of f ice/Reg i s te red O f f ice/
OA Sou th

Janus House
Osney Mead
Oxfo rd OX2 0ES

t : +44 ( 0 ) 1865  263 800
f : +44  ( 0 )1865  793 496
e : i n fo@ox fo rda rchaeo logy .c o m
w:h t tp : / /ox fo rda rchaeo logy .co m 

OA Eas t

15 T r a fa lga r Way
Bar H i l l
Cambr idgesh i re
CB23 8SQ

t : +44 (0 )1223  850500
e : oaeas t@ox fo rda rchaeo logy .co m
w:h t tp : / /ox fo rda rchaeo logy .co m




